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Dramatis Personae

George Downing (1623–84) – scholar, preacher, spy, diplomat, politician, American Roundhead, member of the Cavalier Parliament, Envoy Extraordinary, property developer, antihero.

Emmanuel Downing (1585–1660) – George’s father. Puritan, barrister-at-law, New England pioneer, entrepreneur, shameless opportunist, crook.

Lucy Downing (née Winthrop) (1600–79) – George’s mother. Stalwart promoter of the interests of her many offspring.

John Winthrop Senior (1588–1649) – George Downing’s uncle. Leader of the Great Migration to New England. Twelve times elected governor of the Massachusetts Bay Colony between 1630 and 1649. Puritan, intolerant, politically savvy.

John Winthrop Junior (1606–76) – George Downing’s favourite cousin, friend and collaborator. College drop-out, alchemist, metallurgist, founder of Saybrook Colony, governor of Connecticut Colony, markedly more liberal than his father.

Hugh Peter (1598–1660) – Puritan pastor noted for his theatrical style of preaching. A radical political activist during the English Civil Wars. A close ally of Oliver Cromwell and George Downing’s early mentor.

Oliver Cromwell (1599–1658) – Parliamentarian, Civil War general, man of destiny, Lord Protector, political and spiritual sphinx. George Downing’s most important patron.

Thomas Scot (n.d.–1660) – Commonwealth spymaster and George Downing’s overseer in the intelligence office at Whitehall.

Archibald Campbell (1607–61) – 1st Marquis of Argyle, leader of the Whiggamore or Kirk Party in Scotland. Covenanter, unreliable friend, one of the spied upon.

Lord Wariston (Archibald Johnston) (1611–63) – Presbyterian zealot, Covenanter, Argyle’s political sidekick, instinctively suspicious of George Downing.

George Monck (1608–70) – professional soldier, general, reliable in a crisis, indulgent of and avuncular towards George Downing, ultimately Earl of Albemarle.

John Thurloe (1616–68) – Thomas Scot’s successor as spymaster, Secretary of State, George Downing’s boss under the Protectorate and his match in intellect and energy.

Charles Howard of Naworth (1628–85) – Cumberland aristocrat, religious and political chameleon, commander of Oliver Cromwell’s Life Guard, George Downing’s brother-in-law, eventually Earl of Carlisle.

Frances Howard (1625–83) – Charles Howard’s sister, George Downing’s wife and mother of his children. Woman of mystery.

Johan de Witt (1625–72) – Grand Pensionary of Holland, dominated the States General – the parliament of the Dutch Republic – and was effectively political leader of the United Provinces of the Netherlands. De Witt was the champion of the merchant class and an anti-monarchist. He and George Downing tried constantly to outsmart one another. Another of the spied upon.

Lord Clarendon (Edward Hyde) (1609–74) – Courtier and adviser to King Charles II, appointed Lord Chancellor after the Restoration and consequently became George Downing’s political master. Clarendon despised Downing and sought to sink his career.






Introduction

GEORGE DOWNING WAS a spy, a diplomat and a shameless turncoat. He worked in both darkness and light. A secret agent for Oliver Cromwell, an MP and ambassador abroad, he might have seemed the model servant of Protector and Parliament; but one day he would abruptly shift sides to scheme in support of the Stuart Restoration.

Born in 1623, Downing spent his formative years in America as a pioneer in colonial Massachusetts. Travelling to the Caribbean just as the use of African slaves was expanding in the English colonies there, he cheered on the wider adoption of slavery with unselfconscious glee. Back in Britain, he played a part in making slaves – of a sort – out of a bedraggled army of Scots, taken prisoner during the Civil War. After switching to the King’s side, Downing pioneered the state-sponsored kidnapping nowadays known as ‘extraordinary rendition’; had a hand in starting two major wars; and is credited with a crucial role in extracting Manhattan and Long Island from the Dutch, thereby helping to found New York. He was a crafty Janus in a life filled with political intrigue. Yet he is chiefly remembered – when he is remembered at all – for a single speculative property venture, undertaken late in life, to build a street in London that came to house generations of British prime ministers. In truth, developing Downing Street was one of the less interesting things that George Downing turned his hand to.

A scion of one of the founding families of the Massachusetts Bay Colony, Downing was in the first class ever to graduate from Harvard. Three years later, following other New England Puritans, he sailed back to Britain to take up the Roundhead cause in the English Civil War. Impressed by his abilities, Oliver Cromwell soon appointed Downing head of military intelligence, rewarding his two signature traits: resourceful competence and ruthlessness. Cromwell remained George Downing’s patron through the Commonwealth and the Protectorate, sending him on missions around Europe doubling as diplomat and spy; and Downing in turn remained loyal to the republic, until the day for treachery arrived.

When Charles II was restored to his kingdoms in 1660, it was as if George Downing had simply swapped one patron for another. He surprised friend and foe alike by keeping all the generously rewarded posts he had acquired during the interregnum and adding a few more under the new dispensation. As it turned out, he had been working both sides of the street for some time. He went on to play a part in the frenzy of Royalist revenge that followed the king’s return, helping to hunt down the regicides who had signed Charles I’s death warrant. Some had been among Downing’s friends, patrons and colleagues, yet he was prepared to propel them callously towards the most gruesome executions.

History views George Downing through narrowed eyes. When not censuring his moral turpitude, it tends to shoo him into the footnotes, like an embarrassing relation. Scour the indexes of Civil War histories – from venerable Victorian to the latest revisionist take – and Downing rates scant mention.

Contemporaries decried him as ‘a sider with all times and changes, well skilled in the common cant’, as ‘a fearful gentleman’ and as a ‘Judas’.1 Downing is guilty on all counts. This book will not advance any contrarian or revisionist line in that respect. Rather, it accepts him as he was: a man who betrayed his former friends and colleagues; not to save his own skin, either, but to further his career. Yet there is more to this strange and darkly knotted character than the sum of his mortal sins.

In 1876, the antiquary Edward Peacock observed that the Leveller Thomas Rainborowe, ‘has not found his way into our biographical literature, and in the popular histories of the period there is little recorded concerning him’. Rainborowe’s neglect, according to Peacock, was a result of the restricted focus of Civil War historiography. ‘The fame of three or four of the leading spirits of the time has eclipsed in the common memory almost all the other people who took an important part in the struggle between Charles the First and his Parliament,’ he said. ‘There is, we believe, no other great crisis in modern history where the less known have been permitted to remain so entirely unknown as the time of which we speak.’2

Since Peacock’s day there has been a burgeoning of Leveller studies, and our understanding of what happened in that period has been all the better for it. Nevertheless, the three or four leading spirits of the Civil War years still tend to dominate the scene, permitting other players only the occasional cameo appearance. By following the figure of George Downing, moving through the shadows and surfacing at crucial moments, always on the make, we may discover a fresh perspective on this convulsive episode in English history.

Downing always stood close to the people who mattered. The governor of Massachusetts was his uncle; the governor of Connecticut was his cousin. He was at Cromwell’s elbow throughout the Third Civil War and was hugger-mugger with the Protector’s spymaster, John Thurloe, afterwards. Under the new regime he tried (and failed) to scrape up to Charles II’s chief minister, Lord Clarendon, but for a while succeeded in insinuating himself into the affections of the King instead.

As a writer, reporter and documentary-maker, my interest over thirty years has involved three main strands: religion, politics and spying. These are constant themes, plaited together, in Downing’s mysterious life from the late 1640s to the early 1670s; but thereafter they abruptly fall away as Downing is exiled from the world of intrigue and confined to more pedestrian politics in the House of Commons. Indeed, his last dozen years in this world were pretty unremarkable by any standard. Consequently, I decided not to attempt a rounded, balanced, definitive account of George Downing’s whole life, but rather to keep my focus on his spying and scheming. For these reasons, I touch only lightly upon Downing’s public-finance reforms and skirt the intricacies of the great power diplomacy in which he engaged. Other writers have addressed these specialist areas and I point to their work in the Bibliography at the end of the book.

Since espionage is a clandestine activity, leaving few traces and next to nothing by way of documentary evidence, it is a field in which a great deal is necessarily left to conjecture. But when used properly, conjecture is a perfectly respectable analytical tool and should not be confused with being over-imaginative. Examining Downing’s letters and reports to work out who his agents may have been, what they would have been in a position to tell him, how he knew what he knew, and who and what he chose to tell at vital moments, opens windows of interpretation. Downing’s secret side may also tell us more about the man himself: how he shifted from American Roundhead to English Cavalier, or from Puritan preacher to suspiciously wealthy voluptuary; and whether he truly was a shameless cynic or perhaps a paradoxically principled turncoat.

Throughout the period in which George Downing’s story unfolds, the American colonies and England employed the Old Style date system based on the Julian calendar, where the new year began on Lady Day, 25 March, while the continental European countries that Downing visited had adopted the Gregorian calendar and New Style dates that were ten days in advance of the Julian ones. Scotland (where much of the early action of this narrative takes place) employed a hybrid system: a modified Old Style, with the New Year beginning on 1 January. To avoid confusion, all dates in this book (except where otherwise specified) conform to the Scottish model – that is, Old Style, but with a 1 January start. Similarly, when quoting from documents I have adjusted the spelling, punctuation and grammar for the sake of consistency and clarity.

Dennis Sewell

January 2025






CHAPTER 1

An Unsentimental Education

Cambridge, Massachusetts Bay Colony, 1638

HARVARD WAS FOUNDED by Puritans in the pious hope that it would turn out saints, but in George Downing it apparently summoned a demon. Liar, blackmailer, seducer and thief, this double-dealing shapeshifter would betray both friends and principles without a moment’s misgiving. Yet as a most artful spy for Oliver Cromwell, as an envoy alternately bruising and charming his way through the chancelleries of Europe, as a politician revamping England’s public finances and blowing early wind into the sails of empire, George Downing showed himself to be, by any reckoning, the most successful, significant and fascinating figure in Harvard’s first graduation class.

Heaven alone knows to what extent Downing’s Harvard years shaped his moral character, but it was perhaps of some salience that during his freshman year, beginning in the summer of 1638, the master of the college was a deranged and brutal sadist. Nathaniel Eaton had come to his new post with all the right credentials: Westminster School; Trinity College, Cambridge; a spell in the Netherlands, studying under an exiled Puritan divine. The Board of Overseers, who knew of Eaton’s family, but had not the faintest intimation of his propensity for violence, conferred on this son of a Cheshire vicar the title of professor, with full authority over the construction of the new college, its academic life and the pastoral care of its students.1

At this time Newtown – as Cambridge, Massachusetts was originally known – was a frontier community. The line of trees that curtained the northern edge of Cow Common marked the limit of the young colony’s mapped territory – beyond lay primeval wilderness. The town had become a scrapheap of abortive schemes. Newtown was originally intended to replace Boston as the colony’s capital, until the governor, John Winthrop, realized that the plan was a ruse on the part of a rival to separate him from his political base. He performed a theatrical gesture of repudiation, uprooting the wooden frame of his Newtown house, and then had the whole structure carted three miles east, where he established a country residence beside the Mystic River. Winthrop kept his town house in Boston, which remained the seat of government.2

With their political aspirations thwarted, some Newtown boosters reposed their hopes in commercial farming. But the quality of the soil was too poor for wheat, so the only realistic way to make money was by rearing livestock – hence the stockyards and ox pastures in the heart of the town. To be profitable, though, the cattle business needed to be conducted on a scale that the topography of the locality would not allow. The beasts required room to graze, but the cattlemen looked out at the forbidding thicket and saw that it could never be cleared for pasture; not in their lifetimes anyhow. Ultimately it would be George Downing’s father, Emmanuel, who would help solve the colony’s livestock problems by shipping in animals from England and supervising the erection of cattle pens on grassland further north, near his home town of Salem.

Meanwhile, the people of Newtown concluded that the only thing for it was exodus. In June 1636, one hundred of the town’s original inhabitants, led by their charismatic pastor, Thomas Hooker, along with all their cattle, pigs and goats, simply upped and went in search of fresh woods and pastures new. Providence guided them on a journey westwards along a Native American trail that after two weeks deposited them in the Connecticut River valley, where they established a new settlement close to a Dutch trading post. For the eight or nine families who decided to stay behind when Hooker departed, together with many skilled artisans who later came crowding in, the college represented Newtown’s last chance to establish itself as a going concern.

Winthrop’s Massachusetts Puritans valued scholarship so highly that they founded a university only six years after they landed in America. They barely had enough time to build churches, farms and roads before making higher education their priority. The founding of Harvard was partly brought about by members of George Downing’s extended family. John Winthrop may figuratively have been the father of the Bay colony, but he was literally George Downing’s uncle. George’s mother, Lucy Downing, was Winthrop’s sister. She lobbied her brother to develop the colony’s educational institutions, making it a condition of bringing her family over to New England. As it transpired, he already had the matter in hand. Lucy Winthrop Downing had spotted that her son George possessed an aptitude for learning and was determined that he would attain ‘perfection in the Arts’. ‘It would grieve me in my grave,’ Lucy told her brother, ‘if his mind should be withdrawn from his book by . . . sports; for that were but the way to make him good at nothing.’3

Another energetic advocate for a university was Hugh Peter, the pastor of the church at Salem, who was related to the Winthrops by marriage and became an unofficial uncle to young George. When it came to establishing the college, Massachusetts possessed impressive reserves of cultural capital. More than fifty of the colony’s leaders – clergymen, politicians and lawyers – had attended Cambridge University in England, including John Winthrop and Hugh Peter, both alumni of Trinity College. The name ‘Cambridge’ was an irresistible choice for the town where their new university would be established. So it was that, in May 1638, ill-starred Newtown formally became Cambridge, Massachusetts.

Money was tight in the young colony, but providence delivered. In this instance it did so by infecting a wealthy thirty-year-old clergyman named John Harvard, late of Emmanuel College, Cambridge, with terminal tuberculosis; then sparing him for just long enough to make a deathbed bequest of half his fortune, together with his entire library, to the college. Naming the institution after him was, you might think, the least the colony could do, but John Winthrop avoided acknowledging John Harvard’s generous gift, always referring to the institution simply as ‘the college at Cambridge’.4 The founders constantly held up the older Cambridge as a pattern for the new. The world’s first university press, for instance, had been founded at Cambridge in 1534 by Thomas Thomas (his name so suggestive of a misprint); consequently the New Englanders sighed for a press of their own. Providence delivered once again. This time a certain Josse Glover, on his way from England with a printing press in his baggage, perished of a fever during the voyage.5 Ownership of his equipment passed to his widow, Elizabeth. She engaged Stephen Daye, a young locksmith whose passage Glover had covered in exchange for help in establishing the press, to operate the apparatus at a house in Crooked Lane, Cambridge in 1639. It was the first press in the American colonies. Two years later, Elizabeth Glover found herself a new husband in Henry Dunster, the brutal Eaton’s more irenic successor, whereupon the commercial press became a university press. And despite Winthrop’s cussed reluctance, the college adopted the name Harvard shortly after opening.

The Peyntree house, summer 1638

There were curious events in the colony in the spring and summer of 1638 that some read as portents or intimations of divine dissatisfaction. Farmers had to re-plant their corn two or three times in a season, when they found it rotted in the ground. In June an earthquake occurred, making a sound, according to one witness, ‘like continuous thunder or the rattling of coaches in London’.6 It shook the ground violently for four minutes and then rumbled away to Connecticut, though the aftershocks went on for almost three weeks. But nothing more came of it; the sun shone and the corn crops recovered. Young men going up to Harvard were able to set all anxieties aside and begin their new life as scholars with high hopes and innocent cheer.

George Downing, along with a dozen or so fellow freshmen, arrived in late summer at the newly refurbished Peyntree house on Braintree Street. From the rear windows of this converted farmhouse the students could look out across the ox pastures and the common in the distance; and, more closely, onto Cowyard Row, a series of lots that Nathaniel Eaton was busy transforming into Harvard Yard, which soon became (and today remains) the heart of the Harvard campus.

Immediately behind the Peyntree house, work was beginning on Old College, a pastiche of the Cambridge originals back in olde England, constructed mainly out of wood. A large E-shaped building of timber, faced with clapboard and with cedar-shingle roofs, it included a great hall and library, kitchen and buttery, bedrooms and studies; and from its centre rose an elegant bell tower. In its finished pomp, Old College appeared magnificent – a little too magnificent for some Puritan tastes. But for much of his time at Harvard, George Downing would see it only as partly built, just a frame and a façade to show for itself, a Potemkin college avant la lettre; and a startling incongruity planted way out here in a farmyard, on civilization’s very edge.7

And there were wolves. As George and his fellow students lit their candles to read their Latin texts after dinner, a wolf pack would pad down to the common to sing by the light of the moon. The moment they ceased howling, a litany of spine-chilling shrieks and screeches would start up, as an entire food chain of predators set upon one another in the blackness beyond. There were foxes, martens, otters and deer in them thar woods. There were occasional sightings of moose and foraging black bears. Nobody knew it yet, but the real danger for Harvard’s freshman class lay not in the red-in-tooth-and-claw world beyond the ox pale; but rather from inside the Peyntree house itself.


[image: An architectural drawing or engraving showing Harvard Old College, a large wooden building with multiple stories, peaked roofs, and a central bell tower.]
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Harvard’s curriculum was breathtakingly extensive. Downing and his class studied not only the customary classical languages – Latin, Greek and Hebrew – but also Chaldean and Syriac. Divinity, ethics, rhetoric, politics, metaphysics, logic, mathematics, physics, astronomy and even a little botany crowded into the timetable. The academic day began at seven o’clock in the morning with a passage from Scripture, after which each student would explain to his tutor what he had learned by candlelight the night before. A programme of lectures would follow, with further Bible readings in the afternoon. Instruction in all subjects was delivered in Latin; indeed, theoretically at least, every conversation held on college premises, whether during working hours, at mealtimes or at leisure, was conducted in Latin too. The young Downing quickly mastered conversing in the ancient tongue. It was a skill he would keep up in later life.8

Cotton Mather, a Puritan prodigy of the next generation, who went up to Harvard at the age of eleven, described Nathaniel Eaton as ‘a rare scholar’ who had ‘made many more such’, but added that ‘their education truly was in the school of Tyrannus’. This judgement chimes with the eyewitness testimony of William Hubbard, one of Downing’s contemporaries, who compared Eaton to Orbilius – the poet Horace’s schoolmaster and a notorious flogger.9 Eaton would eventually be put on trial for his relentless battery. Of the students brave enough to testify against him, some said that they had received twenty, and even thirty, strokes of his lash. There is no record of whether George Downing gave evidence or was among the teenagers Eaton abused. That he was the governor’s nephew may possibly have given Downing immunity. Eaton’s egregious defence to the charges brought against him was that in each instance he needed to ‘subdue the party to his will’. In the end it was not the professor’s brutality to the undergraduates that proved his undoing; his mistake was to assault a member of the academic staff. The magistrates heard that one night, after an argument, Eaton decided to ‘reform’ his assistant, Nathaniel Briscoe. He armed himself with a cudgel carved out of walnut wood and ‘big enough to have killed a horse’. Taking with him two servants to hold Briscoe down, Eaton beat his victim for two hours, delivering more than two hundred blows to his head, neck, shoulders and torso. The ensuing investigation discovered much else to the professor’s discredit.10

Since moving into the Peyntree house, Downing and the other scholars had been served their meals by an African slave, known only as ‘the Moor’. It is likely that this young man had recently arrived in Massachusetts from the island of Providence, a Puritan colony off the Caribbean coast of Nicaragua, aboard a Salem ship, the Desire.11 The exploitation of the Moor by Harvard College was unlawful; the trading of slaves would not be legalized in Massachusetts for another three years. The master of the Desire was William Pierce, who later instructed two of George Downing’s brothers, Joshua and Robin, in the maritime arts. Pierce had spent the previous six months buying and selling in the Caribbean, visiting Barbados, St Kitts and Tortuga, as well as Providence Island. No surviving record confirms where exactly the Moor was purchased, but if it was Providence Island, as Governor Winthrop’s account suggests, then it is probable that he had originally been enslaved by the Spanish and taken from one of their galleons by English privateers. The kingpin of organized piracy in the region was a London merchant, Maurice Thomson, who controlled the buccaneers operating out of Providence Island under letters of marque issued by Charles I. In 1635, the King licensed the seizure of Spanish ships after Spain raided the island of Tortuga. Thomson was a business associate of Emmanuel Downing in a string of enterprises running from fisheries to furs. Later a notorious interloper in the Atlantic slave trade, he would soon become one of the hard-faced merchants who financed the parliamentary side in the coming English Civil War.12

Had Nathaniel Eaton’s wife not been caught stealing the students’ dinner money, the trafficking of this young African might have passed unremarked. As it was, the Moor was made a scapegoat during the investigation into the Eatons’ custodianship of the college. They could not blame him for the mackerel brought to table with the guts still in them; nor for thickening the hasty pudding with goats’ dung; nor even for stealing the cheese and beef: Mistress Eaton admitted to doing all that herself. But some of the young scholars actually appeared to be envious of a slave, griping that they were denied bread of their own and had to eat ‘the Moor’s crusts’; or that there were occasions when the Moor had beer, but they had to go without. However, the greatest outrage was occasioned when young Samuel Hough came back to his dorm one day and – like the three bears in the Goldilocks story – found a young trespasser asleep in his bed. Samuel’s father, one of the most senior elected figures in the colony, was so distressed that he withdrew his son from Harvard altogether and sued the professor for the fees that he had already paid.

The court banned Eaton from working in an educational establishment ever again and Harvard formally dismissed him in the autumn of 1639. As there was nobody at hand to take his place, the Board of Overseers had no choice but to shut the college for almost a whole academic year. The freshmen were packed off to their parents, who were advised to hire private tutors to keep the scholars’ heads in their books until the following August.

George Downing returned to Salem, where he was fortunate to receive instruction from John Fiske – yet another Cambridge graduate. Fiske was proficient in the Scriptures, the classics and medical science. He also preached at the meeting house in Salem as an understudy to pastor Hugh Peter and, as a sideline, dispensed remedies to the sick. Downing was used to interruptions to his education. When the plague ran hot in London, Emmanuel and Lucy Downing would send their son away to board in Kent; when it diminished, he was allowed home.


A London boyhood


George Downing was born in the autumn of 1623 in Dublin, Ireland. From the age of two until he was ten, the family lived at Peterborough Court in London’s Fleet Street, hard by the conduit that brought fresh water all the way from Tyburn. The site of Downing’s childhood home has in recent times housed the offices of the Daily Telegraph and the London branch of Goldman Sachs. His father was a barrister with chambers in the Inner Temple nearby. In 1634, the Downings moved to a new house near the south-west corner of Lincoln’s Inn Fields.

George’s wide and precocious knowledge of the world owed a good deal to the intellectually stimulating figures passing through the family home. Chief among them was his cousin, John Winthrop Junior. Winthrop became more like a big brother to George, and the pair were closely involved in the details of one another’s lives despite an age gap of seventeen years. The Winthrops were country gentry, with an estate at Groton in Suffolk, and the Downings’ house became Winthrop’s London base. He was a man of many and various schemes, who struggled to keep his focus on any one project for long. His father was disappointed that John did not go up to Trinity College, Cambridge, but to Trinity College, Dublin instead. He was disappointed again when John Junior dropped out of the university without taking a degree and enrolled to study law at the Inns of Court in London. But before long, John was on the move again; this time, sailing off to war.

Emmanuel Downing’s brother, Joshua, was Surveyor to the Navy and managed the shipyards at Rotherhithe and Chatham. He used his influence to obtain a place for young Winthrop on the Duke of Buckingham’s 1627 expedition to relieve the beleaguered Huguenots at La Rochelle – a romantic cause for Protestants at that time. The Huguenots were holding out against an army led by the Catholic Louis XIII and his chief minister, Cardinal Richelieu. With a background in divinity and law and no nautical experience, and being too much of the officer class for swabbing decks, the only suitable role Buckingham’s fleet could find for Winthrop was as secretary to the captain of the Repulse, a forty-gun warship.13

The expedition was a shambles, poorly planned and inadequately funded; and it left 20,000 Huguenots dead in the mud on the Île de Ré. Profoundly disillusioned by the experience, Winthrop lit out for Italy and the Levant, visiting Florence, Venice and Constantinople, returning with a thousand stories and a stock of fresh enthusiasms. He turned out all right in the end, becoming the governor of Connecticut and a Fellow of the Royal Society. Though he followed his father to New England, he would frequently return to London on business. For the young George, time spent with his mercurial and impulsive cousin was always an education.

Also resident in the Downing house during George’s formative years was Edward Howes, John Winthrop Junior’s best friend from his student days in Dublin. Howes too was still uncertain of the right road to take in life and he also decided to read for the Bar, more or less apprenticing himself to Emmanuel Downing, doubling as both his pupil and his clerk – living in Downing’s home, eating at the family table and performing any other duties his pupil master might from time to time assign him. Howes shared Winthrop’s obsessive interests in alchemy and magnetic engines and had his own special hobbyhorse: the search for the Northwest Passage. Oddly, Howes was in the habit of encrypting portions of his correspondence with Winthrop. It is possible that he gave the young George a head start in espionage with breakfast-table training in codes and ciphers, for Howes turned out to be a natural teacher. After the Downings left for America, he abandoned the law to become a mathematics master at a school in Stepney, East London. He wrote an arithmetic textbook and dreamed up a scheme to simplify grammar and syntax, which he hoped to sell to the world. In the 1640s, Howes started his own free school in Poplar, in premises provided by the East India Company.

He also made a small but significant contribution towards solving New England’s wolf problem. Acting on instructions from Emmanuel Downing, he supervised the shipping of four Irish wolfhounds ‘and an Irish boy to tend them’.14 Howes had some additional advice. ‘I have learnt two devices to kill wolves,’ he wrote to his friend Winthrop, ‘one is with pieces of sponge laid covertly in such flesh or garbage they feed on; the other is . . . pieces of strong wire, twisted together . . . and the ends to be bowed and filed sharp and beards cut in them like fishhooks; and then put within their meat.’ He then added cryptically, ‘There is one also here in town that makes very good Shanlota prestheir waidtoh Vortimnoe agnud cloimnoan Ebafretah.’15 This was not a message in Gaelic, but in rudimentary code. Removing every second letter yields the solution: ‘Salt peter with Vrine and comon Earth’.

Howes was sending his friend a scientific recipe. The intended sense of the communication was: There is a man here in town who makes very good saltpetre out of urine and common earth (and nothing else). It was generally held at the time that the earth required to produce saltpetre, which is a key ingredient of gunpowder, needed enrichment with nutrients, usually supplied by adding bird droppings. The reason Howes employed a form of encryption in this letter was that the Crown held a monopoly in the manufacture of saltpetre; this meant that Howes’s anonymous connection was risking imprisonment, or worse, for making his own. Gunpowder was a strategic resource and, when it was in short supply, saltpetre men would go from door to door demanding the king’s subjects to hand over their urine – and sometimes their soil – for the war effort. As it turned out, Howes’s thinly coded recipe became useful intelligence for the American colonists: Massachusetts took the hint and set up saltpetre sheds in each county.

As for the Irish boy sent to mind the wolfhounds, there is, sadly, no record of his fate. A young Catholic among the New England Puritans would have been like Daniel at the court of Darius the Mede. Howes complained to Winthrop that despite his best efforts to make a Protestant of him, the lad still refused to eat meat on Fridays and ‘does not love to hear the Romish religion spoken against’. He challenged Winthrop to take the boy as his servant and, over a period of four years, try to convert him. In a work of fiction, Winthrop would have accepted the challenge and the wolfhound boy would have become George’s first fast friend in New England. In real life, as it happened, he was never mentioned again.

From London to Salem, Massachusetts

The Downing family moved to New England as part of the Great Migration, which saw 20,000 Puritans take ship for America’s northern seaboard. The migrants are frequently portrayed as refugees fleeing persecution. Yet the oppression and victimization they were escaping was comparatively mild for those troubled times when bloody religious conflict ran rife across Europe. Charles I did not massacre the Puritans; their property was not confiscated. A small number did suffer imprisonment, and a tiny few – the so-called Puritan martyrs – were barbarously mutilated: their ears cut off in public, as a lesson to the others. Unusually for martyrs, however, none of them lost their lives.16

A number of the Puritan clergy did, admittedly, lose their livelihoods – being expelled from their parishes after stern inspections by the Church of England authorities; but no more than a few score of those who sailed for New England had suffered such an experience. For the overwhelming majority of migrants, their ‘persecution’ took the form of a string of liturgical microaggressions meted out by the new Archbishop of Canterbury, William Laud. Altars were restored for the Eucharist, replacing the wooden tables favoured by the Puritans; images and stained glass began to reappear in churches that had previously been stripped bare. Ecclesiastical vestments were restored to service despite their papist heritage and fancy embroidery; prayers were once again given precedence over preaching, and free will over Calvinist predestination. This trend was bitterly offensive to Puritans, who saw it as tantamount to popery. The Puritans despised every aspect of the Catholic faith and pledged to expunge any lingering taint from the Church of England. Increasingly they were finding that England would not permit them to live as they wished; indeed, it threatened to force them into adopting forms of worship that were profoundly inimical to their beliefs. That said, William Laud did not actually become Archbishop of Canterbury until 1633, so his reforms cannot sufficiently explain the proleptic flight of the Winthrop fleet three years before.

There was a straightforwardly political dimension to the migration. The Puritans were strongly represented in Parliament, but had an uneasy relationship with the king. Strongly attached to ideas such as the Divine Right of Kings and the Royal Prerogative, Charles I could sometimes be somewhat high-handed with his Parliament, especially when he was short of money. In March 1629, Charles sent the MPs away and instituted an eleven-year period of personal rule. This allowed him to bring in new taxes that Parliament would have blocked, had they been given the choice, and that also allowed him to give Laud a free hand with the Church.

Yet, what chiefly led the Puritans to emigrate to New England was a belief that it was what God wanted of them. Each received the summons in a different way. For John Winthrop Senior, providence was theatrically emphatic. He made a careful note of it shortly afterwards: ‘July 28 1629: My brother Downing and myself riding into Lincolnshire by Ely, my horse fell under me in a bog in the fens, so I was almost up to the waist in water; but the Lord preserved me from further danger.’17

When the incident occurred, Winthrop and Emmanuel Downing were on their way to Sempringham to meet Isaac Johnson and his wife, Lady Arbella, a daughter of the Earl of Lincoln, who were hosting a house party to discuss founding a new colony in Massachusetts. Winthrop became convinced that God had spared his life so that he would lead this adventure. He and Emmanuel Downing threw themselves into planning the colony, with much of the work being done in Downing’s house in Fleet Street, with the six-year-old George playing nearby.

A fleet of eleven ships carrying the first wave of migrants set sail from the Isle of Wight just after Easter 1630 with Governor Winthrop aboard his flagship, which, of course, was called the Arbella. James Downing, George’s half-brother, joined Winthrop on the twelve-week voyage, leaving the rest of the Downing family to follow later.

Everyone knew the expedition could be perilous. A decade earlier the Mayflower had landed 103 pilgrims at Plymouth Rock. Yet by the end of their first winter more than sixty of them were dead.

The manifests of the first wave of ships to cross to New England contained many names that that would one day feature in the honour roll of American letters: Pynchon, Lowell, Bradstreet, Stearns (Andrew Eliot of East Coker would join them later). The proportion of migrants who were literate was approximately twice that of the general population in England. Those aboard the ships of the Great Migration would contribute to the bloodline of America’s Brahmin caste, its cultural and political elites. The new world was to be a small world: for instance, Hugh Peter’s maidservant became the grandmother of Benjamin Franklin, and the descendants of Emmanuel Downing would include President John Quincy Adams, Vice President Aaron Burr and General William Tecumseh Sherman, no less.

Whereas three-quarters of Virginia’s colonists belonged to the servant class, by contrast most of the Massachusetts Bay pioneers were gentry, professionals, merchants, artisans or farmers. But it was spiritual and moral elitism that occupied John Winthrop’s thoughts as they set sail. He made a speech about how the Puritans’ new colony would be ‘as a city upon a hill. The eyes of all people . . . upon us.’ The idea Winthrop elaborated of New England as a model moral community in a special covenant with God, and being morally superior to the old England they left behind, laid the basis of what would develop into the doctrine of American Exceptionalism; and Winthrop’s city-on-a-hill trope, itself taken from Christ’s sermon on the mount, has had continuing resonance in American political discourse down to the present day.18

Winthrop was not only a man of high moral rectitude; he was also a crafty political operator. He was careful to ensure that there was only one iteration of the patent or royal charter given to the Massachusetts Bay Company. He was also careful to take the original with him, so that there was no record back in London of the Massachusetts constitution, the limits of its independence or the powers of its governor. This broadly gave the colony freedom to make its own laws and determine its own affairs without reference to London. When a committee at Westminster did eventually demand that the document be sent back for scrutiny, Winthrop kept it locked in his office, judging that the twelve-week journey between London and Boston meant that only a couple of rounds of prevarication would be needed before the committee lost interest.

Salem, Massachusetts, 1638

When the Downing family eventually reached Salem in 1638, after three arduous months at sea, they were soon reunited with the younger John Winthrop, who formally welcomed them into the town and later administered the oath when Emmanuel was sworn in as a freeman. Winthrop, at that time, was running a salt plant on the Bass River in the northern reaches of Salem. The enterprise was vital for the colony’s economic development, as salt was so necessary for the preservation of meat and fish and had hitherto been in very short supply. Winthrop invested in large saltpans for slow and steady evaporation, yielding a product free of all impurities; but he also installed huge cauldrons for the rapid heating of seawater over log fires, producing quick salt for rush orders. A reliable supply of salt would make it possible for the colonists to store home-reared beef, reducing the need to import meat from old England; but the greatest beneficiaries would be fishermen, now able to harvest the abundant shoals of Atlantic cod between Cape Ann and Newfoundland. They would not only be able to feed Massachusetts, but also export to the Caribbean and even to England. To help start the fishing business, Emmanuel Downing brought in one of his brothers-in-law, Francis Kirby, a London skinner and fur trader already shipping beaver pelts. Kirby, in turn, persuaded one of his own cousins to supply venture capital. This was none other than Maurice Thomson, the merchant pirate of the Caribbean.

The fishing business was originally the brainchild of the pastor Hugh Peter. A Cornishman by birth, Peter invited experienced fishermen from his home village of Fowey (pronounced Foy) to emigrate to the Marblehead district of Salem to launch a brand-new Massachusetts fishing fleet. He sank some of his own money into a syndicate of local entrepreneurs to build (and operate) the town’s first ship, the Desire – the same ship on which ‘the Moor’ would be trafficked to Boston. The relationship between the Protestant ethic and business success, so frequently remarked, doesn’t simply inhere in Calvinist doctrine; money-making requires a Hugh Peter to chivvy fellow Puritans into economic action. Roaring his exhortations with the same passion as he preached his sermons, Peter drove the building of more ships; helped to establish a water mill; promoted glass-making; led the development of trade with the Caribbean islands; and even tried to market the services of Stephen Daye’s new printing press to the governor of Bermuda. He was also the most assiduous champion of Harvard. Yet Hugh Peter was a fragile figure, oscillating between bouts of manic energy and prolonged withdrawal into silent, hypochondriac melancholy.19

Colonists arriving in Salem discovered that the area’s indigenous people had already achieved an enormous amount before them. Large areas of land had been cleared for crops. The local tribe, the Naumkeag people, had refined a method of firing the underbrush in the woods without scorching the trees. Consequently the forests around Salem were not the impenetrable thicket common in New England, but rather contained a marvellous network of paths and bridleways.

John Winthrop Junior was just as energetic and industrious as Hugh Peter. In 1633, he took a dozen men in a small boat northwards up the coast to meet a sagamore – or tribal chief – at a spot that was then called Agawam and is now the town of Ipswich, Massachusetts. Winthrop cut a deal with the chief, purchasing all the land thereabouts for an unknown quantity of wampum and £20 in cash. He moved there, built himself a house, summoned more residents and founded a town. Of course Winthrop’s interest very soon switched to another project.

The chief focus of Winthrop’s attention was the Saybrook Colony. The name was a hat tip to two Puritan noblemen, Lord Saye and Sele and Lord Brooke, who were among the original investors in Providence Island and were now backing this new scheme, with Winthrop as its managing director. Their plan was to build a fortified condominium in America for the English Puritan elite. The Saybrook Company acquired some prime real estate at the mouth of the Connecticut River looking out over Long Island Sound. Plots were earmarked for a number of prominent Puritan politicians including, reportedly, John Pym, John Hampden, Arthur Hesilrige and Oliver Cromwell. Winthrop had shipped from England a massive portcullis and the winding mechanism for a drawbridge. Another of the investors, the Northumberland squire George Fenwick, travelled to New England to report on progress. A professional soldier with the magnificent name of Lion Gardiner, who had fought in Holland and was strongly recommended by Hugh Peter, was tapped to command the vast fort. Peter had originally come to New England under the auspices of the Saybrook Company and was due to be the community’s minister, but found himself diverted to Salem. His travelling companion on the journey from England had been a talented young man called Henry Vane, who was also one of the Saybrook team; but Vane discovered a taste for politics and ran for office in Massachusetts instead. Both Vane and Peter returned to England to become significant figures in the Civil War.

Despite the best efforts of all involved, the Saybrook project was doomed. In 1636, Oliver Cromwell inherited from his maternal uncle, Sir Thomas Steward, a fine house in Ely along with an estate yielding a respectable income. If he had ever hankered after a new life in America, he lost the urge in that moment. Sir Arthur Hesilrige, for his part, had long since signalled an interest in moving to New England: at one time initiating due diligence for the purchase of an estate at Salem. Finding that several merchants had registered charges on the property, he finally chose not to proceed for fear of becoming embroiled in litigation. Hesilrige was also a director of the Saybrook Company, but found he could not readily dispose of his assets in England. One by one, the remaining Puritan grandees dropped out as the kingdom began to move towards civil war. Winthrop, Fenwick and Gardiner were left literally holding the fort.


[image: A portrait of a young man with long curly hair in shirt and jacket, identified as Henry Vane the Younger.]


Henry Vane the Younger




George Downing apparently spent the year during which Harvard remained closed dutifully practising his Latin and reading literature with Dr Fiske. Yet a future historian and mayor of the town of Salem later portrayed the young Downing as a roving outdoorsman more than a swot. ‘The crack of his fowling-piece re-echoed through the wild woods beyond Proctor’s Corner; he tended his father’s duck decoys at Humphries’ Pond,’ Charles Upham wrote, ‘and angled along the clear brooks.’20

Emmanuel Downing brought over from England all the nets, hoops and blinds required to construct a duck coy and set it up on a stretch of land with two ponds, lying to the south of the town, on the road from Salem to Marblehead. He also acquired the rights to fifty adjacent acres, enough space to ensure his coy was undisturbed by neighbouring farms.21 He even managed to get a by-law passed forbidding anyone to fire a gun within half a mile of the place. Before long the nets were full of wild fowl and the first of Downing’s commercial schemes was an unambiguous success. For Puritans, who lived in a permanent state of neurotic uncertainty about God – whether he was pleased or angry with them, whether they were predestined to be saved or damned – and who examined every incident and outcome for clues to their prospects in the afterlife, a profitable business venture brought an additional dividend: it confirmed divine favour, for the time being at least.

At some point, perhaps during his enforced gap year, George Downing must have learned to ride. In later life he became a man of such corpulence that the idea of him on a horse would have been absurd. But in his lithe years George would be required to travel long distances in a short time and to keep up with cavalry officers on the battlefield. His mother was known to be a keen and accomplished horsewoman who rode out almost every day in Salem, and we know that Emmanuel Downing regularly made the seventeen-mile trip to Boston in the saddle. It is possible that George had already learned some basic equestrian skills on visits to Suffolk, but his childhood was mainly spent in Fleet Street and Lincoln’s Inn Fields and it was only when he arrived in America that he had the chance to become a genuine countryman.

The Massachusetts genealogist Charles Pope counted the Downings as being among the colony’s first true pioneers – ‘first fellers of the primeval forests, first ploughers of the virgin soil, first makers of homes . . . first worshippers in the log meeting houses’.22 Truth be told, Emmanuel Downing’s family, as relative latecomers, avoided the hardscrabble privations faced by the first wave of settlers in the Winthrop fleet. They did not, for instance, have to sleep in tents or wigwams while their clapboard house was being built. Instead they were put up as honoured guests by Hugh Peter in his conspicuously grand house in Salem, rising in three handsome storeys to a rooftop of decorative urns, its front door balanced on either side by twin lantern towers to light the garden by night, with fruit trees stretching away in the gated orchard behind. An old ink sketch shows eleven windows from the front perspective alone, so there were certainly enough rooms for Lucy and Emmanuel with all their children and servants.

Governor Winthrop indisputably brought the charismatic leadership to the Massachusetts Bay project that made it possible, while Emmanuel Downing was the workhorse that made it happen. He had manned the expedition’s base camp in London for eight years, shipping out goods in response to Winthrop’s requests. He therefore knew what to expect when it was his own time to light out for the territory. Some of the early migrants, noting that Boston lay on roughly the same parallel of latitude as Barcelona, had moved to Massachusetts expecting a Mediterranean climate. Emmanuel Downing knew that plenty of sheep’s fleeces (dyed red, and not Puritan black) were required to survive the freezing American winter. As a reward for all the services he had performed for them from London – not only as logistics supremo, but also as general-counsel and lobbyist, arguing the colony’s case before the Privy Council – the government of Massachusetts voted Downing more than 700 acres, upon which he set up a farm and built his own fine house, with stables attached. Lucy Downing named their homestead ‘Groton’ after the Winthrop estate in Suffolk where she was raised.
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Downing Mansion in Salem




Growing up in London, young George had only ever known his father as a barrister, a respectable, professional man hurrying between his chambers in Inner Temple Lane and the Court of Wards next to Westminster Hall. Now, in a new context on another continent, the fifty-three-year-old Emmanuel was transforming himself into a farmer and commercial go-getter, with his fingers in furs, fisheries, mining and metals, timber, livestock and succulent ducks. Later he would diversify into strong waters, becoming one of America’s first distillers of rye whiskey.23

This was not Emmanuel Downing’s first experience of helping to create a new Puritan community and a new economy from scratch. After reading Law at Trinity Hall, Cambridge and completing his legal training at the Inner Temple, he had moved to Ireland to join his brother, Joshua, who at that time was a lawyer at the Court of Common Pleas in Dublin. The two brothers put together a consortium to acquire three estates near Mountrath, County Laois, on which they planned most discreetly to establish a Puritan plantation.

Emmanuel, by this time, had married his first wife, Anne Ware, a daughter of a member of the Irish parliament and the kingdom’s Auditor General. Sir James Ware was enormously helpful in smoothing the way, obtaining privileges and exceptions for the plantation on the sly. Soon, having been spared many bureaucratic obstacles by Emmanuel’s father-in-law, the Downing brothers had tripled their income from rents and had shipped in settlers from England. The restless Joshua soon left Ireland, going off to work first for the East India Company and later becoming a senior administrator of the navy. Emmanuel remained in Dublin, practising law at the King’s Inns. Foremost among his clients was Sir Richard Boyle, later to become the Earl of Cork, whose son Roger, an infant at this time, would one day prove a generous patron of both George and Emmanuel Downing.

The Downings had a son, James, and two daughters, Susan and Mary, before Anne died suddenly in October 1621. It so happened that Emmanuel’s old friend, John Winthrop, was visiting Dublin at this time. Six months later Emmanuel married John’s sister, Lucy, sixteen years his junior; and in the autumn of 1623 she gave birth to George in Dublin. More children arrived in London, and a pair of twins would be born in the New World, so that by the time George returned to Harvard when it reopened, he had eleven siblings or half-siblings living in America.

Once the family was established in Salem, Emmanuel Downing stood for political office. He applied to become a member of the Court of Assistants, the most prestigious tier of government in the colony. The Assistants formed the political leadership, like a cabinet, but also sat as Massachusetts’s most senior judges. Downing assumed that his long experience at the Bar naturally qualified him for the role. However, he did not win enough votes for election because, according to a contemporary report, ‘jealousy was manifested, lest the governor should use influence enough to make his office perpetual’.24 That is, people were worried that John Winthrop was trying to make himself governor for life by packing the court with members of his own family. Winthrop’s endorsement turned out to be Downing’s undoing. As a consolation prize, he was elected as deputy for the town of Salem to the General Court, the colony’s legislature, and sat as a local magistrate. He gradually took on extra roles, establishing a land registry, organizing the fencing of cattle and the building of roads in Salem. His ubiquity in both business and politics steadily consolidated his power in the town.

Not a whisper of it was heard in the streets of Salem or Boston, but Emmanuel Downing had a dirty secret, presumably also unknown to young George. Much of Emmanuel’s work at the London Bar involved acting as an attorney at the Court of Wards, a body that appointed legal guardians to supervise estates inherited by minors. The estates over which the court had jurisdiction were those where the deceased had been a tenant-in-chief of the Crown. Broadly, this meant a clientele drawn from the nobility, the gentry and others who had been beneficiaries of the distribution of confiscated church lands during the Reformation. Emmanuel Downing was in league with Sir Robert Naunton, the Master of the Court, spending men-only weekends at his manor house at Nelmes in Essex, plotting to appoint their cronies as guardians in order to embezzle the funds of naive young heirs. A market developed, with Downing and Naunton auctioning off guardianships, while also taking commission from the successful bidders. When the government eventually got wind of the court’s dodgy dealings, Naunton announced his retirement. His signal that the game was up may have prompted Emmanuel Downing to go at last to New England. George’s later life would show that he learned much from his father, but two things especially: to have an eye to the main chance, and the importance of being shameless.25


Cambridge, Massachusetts, 1642–5


Harvard’s first-ever commencement, or graduation ceremony, took place on Friday 23 September 1642. The venue was Old College, which had at last been brought into use thanks to the efforts of one of the Downings’ neighbours, the Salem master carpenter John Friend, who had built the colossal fort at Saybrook.26

Both Emmanuel Downing and Hugh Peter were abroad on the big day and so missed George’s graduation. Hugh Peter did, however, subsequently write about the occasion as if he had been there as an eyewitness. Peter was the co-author of a pamphlet entitled ‘New England’s First Fruits’, published in London in 1643. The tract was partly a piece of brazen boosterism on behalf of the Massachusetts Bay experiment, and partly a rebuttal of the charge that the colony’s Puritan ministers were not doing enough to save Native American souls. Missionary work was supposed to be one of the colony’s top priorities – the official seal of the Massachusetts Bay Company depicted an Indian carrying a bow and arrow, saying ‘Come over and help us.’ The promise of evangelizing the indigenous population was a powerful fundraising tool for extracting donations from the merchants and liverymen in the City of London; but delivering on the pledge was a very slow business. For example, John Eliot, the minister at the town of Roxbury, translated the Bible into the Algonquian language, having first learned to speak himself from scratch. The whole process took him more than twenty years. So with little to announce in this area of endeavour, Hugh Peter and his colleagues placed Harvard College’s first commencement centre stage in their upbeat account of the colony’s progress.27

The students of the graduating class had been well rehearsed for this day when they would stand before a panel of grandees, including the colony’s governor John Winthrop, to defend their theses and prove themselves as good as their counterparts at Oxford or Cambridge. The event began at about nine o’clock in the morning, with a procession led by a squad of halberdiers of the governor’s ceremonial guard. Behind them filed the overseers with the governor and Harvard’s president, Henry Dunster, in the lead. The VIP party took their seats on a platform. After prayers and an opening address, Dunster called forward each of the commencers in turn. George Downing and his fellow scholars displayed their mastery of languages, giving orations in Greek and Latin and a close reading of a psalm, providing a commentary on the grammatical, logical and rhetorical aspects of the Hebrew text.28

These excitements over, there followed a somewhat dismal lunch, where the overseers were served a selection of dishes the scholars typically ate. Presumably this was to confirm that the catering had improved since the departure of the deplorable Mrs Eaton and her goats’-dung puddings. Unbeknown to the commencers, the overseers held a secret meeting during the lunch break. There was only one item on the agenda. Mindful of the Nathaniel Eaton scandal, President Dunster wanted the trustees’ prior consent to flog two freshers, both recent arrivals from England, who had been found guilty of ‘swearing and ribaldry’. The board agreed and the sentence was carried out once the day’s ceremonies were concluded and the guests gone.

After lunch, everyone returned to the hall for formal disputations, where George was able to play out his strongest suit: answering in Latin questions put to him by the examiners. George Downing and his fellow scholars clearly acquitted themselves to the examiners’ satisfaction as every commencer was cleared to proceed to the climax of the day’s ceremony.29

When the class of ’42 stepped forward, one at a time, to receive their degrees, Benjamin Woodbridge was first up; George Downing, second in line. According to some authorities, the ranking order was based on a punctilious assessment of the social status of each graduand’s family. The colonists were certainly acutely aware of class divisions, with only the quality referred to or addressed as Mister; those between the servant class and the gentry as Goodman and Goodwife (sometimes Goodie for short); and the servant class, frugally, by name alone. President Dunster’s biographer claimed that the system was based on that used for establishing who sat where in church and a special committee would be convened ‘to attend to this delicate service’.30

Yet for a number of reasons, the order of precedence in 1642 cannot be reconciled with the criterion of social standing. Benjamin Woodbridge, the son of a garden-variety Wiltshire vicar, by then dead, migrated to New England to join his elder brother, who had recently wed Mercy, a daughter of Thomas Dudley. It would have been perverse of Harvard’s committee-of-delicate-service to place Benjamin Woodbridge ahead of George Downing, whose father, Emmanuel – an alumnus of Trinity Hall, Cambridge and a member of the Honourable Society of the Inner Temple – was by now well established among the social elite of Massachusetts. And although Thomas Dudley had also served as governor, George’s uncle, John Winthrop, was the incumbent. It seems unlikely that Harvard would have wished to insult Winthrop, the guest of honour, by suggesting that his rival, Dudley, was more posh. In any case further down the list, in fifth position, came young Henry Saltonstall, whose father, Sir Richard, was a knight – an Esquire, if you please; and, prior to his return to England, indubitably the colony’s top nob.

A radical challenge to the social-rank theory emerged from a paper read to the American Antiquarian Society in 1932 by the pre-eminent historian of Harvard, Samuel Eliot Morison. His research demonstrates that there is no consistency in the ranking of siblings or members of the same family over time; and quite frequently a goodman will be placed above classmates of quality lineage. Taking graduation records until the end of the century, Morison also rules out one after another common factor as the basis of class rankings. They do not correspond with the date of enrolment, or with when fees are first paid, or with the order of signing the register on arrival. They are found to be set during the freshman year, so cannot reflect a grade average of academic performance over time, nor the results of any test. They are certainly not in alphabetical order; yet neither are they entirely random.

Morison’s conclusion was that in these early years, Harvard’s ranking of students was essentially an exercise in predicting relative future prospects – the faculty’s subjective assessment, largely on the basis of first impressions, to what degree each would shine in their future careers. The names at the top being, as modern college yearbooks put it, those deemed ‘most likely to succeed’.31

Benjamin Woodbridge had spent one or two years reading for a bachelor’s degree at Magdalen Hall, Oxford. The precise date of Woodbridge’s arrival in New England is not known. His time at Oxford may have equipped him with enough academic charisma to propel him straight to the top of his Harvard class, displacing the college’s original likely lad, George Downing. Harvard made the wrong call. Woodbridge went back to England, where he wound up as a worthy-but-dull vicar in Newbury.

There is no evidence, however, that the demotion rankled with George in any way. And there was no cause for Lucy Downing to doubt that George had been ‘perfected in the Arts’. Shortly after graduating, Downing joined Harvard’s faculty, becoming a fellow of the college, working as a tutor until late 1644. In collaboration with another fellow and one of his students, Sam Winthrop, the governor’s youngest son, George Downing, in what was to be a rare display of generosity, purchased a parcel of land adjacent to the college and planted it with apple trees. They were quite possibly Roxbury Russets – the first colonial variety to emerge in New England. The orchard was given to the college and became a tranquil spot, exclusively reserved to the faculty, known as the Fellows’ Orchard.

After Downing left Harvard to explore the wider world, young Sam Winthrop wrestled with existential anxieties, unable to fathom what God wished him to do. Just like his eldest brother, he dropped out of college without taking a degree. Fearing his father’s ire, Sam ran away to Tenerife to become a merchant’s clerk, which was as extreme as youthful rebellion could get in a seventeenth-century Puritan setting. As it happens, his father wrote eventually approving the move, but telling Sam he was in the wrong place. Following paternal steers, he moved first to Barbados, later to St Christopher (St Kitts) and finally to Antigua, where a wonder-working providence soon saw him established as a successful sugar planter with an estate full of African slaves. Sam Winthrop’s itinerary has him almost exactly following in George Downing’s footsteps.

George was in the Caribbean from February to July 1645 as a preacher, tasked with instructing the seamen aboard an island-hopping trading ship. ‘I was twice at Barbados, thrice at Antigua, many times at Nevis, but most at St Christopher’s; last at Santa Cruz.’ ‘If you go to Barbados you will see a flourishing island . . .’ Downing reported excitedly to John Winthrop Junior. ‘I believe they have bought this year no less than a thousand Negroes and the more they buy, the better they are to buy, for in a year and a half they will earn (with God’s blessing) as much as they cost.’32

Downing was much struck by the importance of owning African slaves in making a fortune in the Caribbean. He called them ‘the life of this place’ and recommended a strategy of starting out by employing English indentured servants, who could be acquired for next to nothing up front, then putting the revenue they earned into buying African slaves.

It is striking quite how matter-of-fact he was about chattel slavery. Although Massachusetts was the first colony to pass a law making slavery legal, the colonists clearly perceived that there was some moral issue involved, as the statute specified that slaves could only be taken in the course of a just war. Slaves were also to be given legal rights, offered education and allowed to live in closer proximity with the families that owned them than was usual elsewhere.

In 1636, a conflict with the Native American Pequot tribe blew up, following the murder of a number of fur traders in Connecticut. The Saybrook commander, Lion Gardiner, recorded a chilling conversation with a Pequot wearing ‘an Englishman’s coat’. The Pequot told him that he had killed colonists and could kill more ‘like mosquitoes’ and intended to go to Connecticut to do just that. He threatened to slaughter ‘men, women and children’ and to take away ‘horses, cows and hogs’. He too was utterly matter-of-fact about his intentions.33

The response of the colonists was immediate and genocidal. Nearly 500 of the tribe – including women and children – burned to death within the palisade of one their fortified villages at Mystic in one of the early engagements of the war. The colonists’ commander on the ground declared that the ease with which the conflagration had started was a sure sign that God was on their side. The Almighty had, John Mason said, ‘laughed his enemies and the enemies of his people to scorn’ by turning the village into a fiery oven. After a series of further easy victories, the colonists decided to extirpate the tribe. Their villages were destroyed and so was their social identity: the survivors were forbidden to use the Pequot appellation in perpetuity. Some were redistributed among other neighbouring tribes, but since it was deemed that the campaign qualified as a ‘just war’, the remainder were taken as slaves. A number of the new slave owners travelled down to Barbados or Virginia to exchange their Pequots for African slaves. The rules, it appears, were flexible enough to accommodate this arrangement.

By now some of the Boston merchants were pioneering a way to profit from the transatlantic slave trade without actually landing any slaves on Massachusetts soil. A ship went from Boston to Maio in the Cape Verde Islands and purchased Africans in the slave market there. The ship then dropped the Africans at Barbados, exchanging slaves for molasses, which travelled home to Boston to be processed into rum, which was in turn shipped to the Gambia to be exchanged for more slaves. And so the whole cycle would repeat itself indefinitely, vastly enriching the Boston ship owners, whose vessels never sailed empty.

The Civil War in England, however, was causing a severe servant shortage throughout the American colonies. Poor young men no longer went into service, they joined the army. The problem was exacerbated by the fact that the Massachusetts economy was changing rapidly. Both the Downing and Winthrop families, together with a group of Londonbased merchants, had invested in a new ironworks that would make the colony self-sufficient in a wide range of manufactures. The ironworks and the spin-off businesses it would stimulate would soon need a supply of cheap labour. And it was not just the younger generation of entrepreneurial Puritans, such as George Downing, who were proposing the deregulation of slavery. His father, Emmanuel Downing, was lobbying the governor with a scheme that was astonishing in its brazen cynicism. What if, Emmanuel Downing proposed, a ‘just war’ could be contrived against the Narragansetts, an Algonquian tribe who were plentiful in the area around Rhode Island, and the Lord should deliver into the hands of the colonists ‘men, women and children enough to exchange for Africans’? This should not be treated as a pipe dream, he insisted. The problem had become urgent. ‘I do not see how we can thrive,’ he told the governor, ‘unless we get a stock of slaves sufficient to do our business.’34 George Downing took his father’s words to heart and when he found himself, a few years later, in a position to help the ironworks resolve its labour crisis, he did so.

He clearly enjoyed his Caribbean adventure and, not being unduly modest, did not downplay how very much his hosts wished him to tarry longer in their island paradise. ‘If you go to Antigua,’ he told his cousin, ‘you shall meet with a very understanding, courteous gentleman, Captain Ashton, the island’s governor, with whom I am intimate. His love towards me was singular and I know that he will be wondrous glad to see you.’ At Nevis, Governor Lake was ‘likewise importunate for me to stay’.35

By 1645 the First Civil War in England was approaching its climax and the conflict had spilled over into the Americas. In broad terms, Virginia and Maryland were Royalist, while the north-eastern seaboard leaned towards Parliament. In the Caribbean the situation was complicated by the fact that islands had proprietors back in England whose loyalties did not always match those of the residents of the islands. Some of the Caribbean colonies changed sides during the war. And it was not simply a matter of allegiance. The war had made the seas perilous for everyone. The system of letters of marque to license piracy was now used by both sides, each commissioning privateers to attack the ships of the other. Even as George Downing went from island to island in his ship selling high-quality linen to the planters, not so very far away, aboard the armed tobacco ship Reformation, Richard Ingle, a Puritan pirate, was plundering the coast of Catholic Maryland in the name of Parliament. Meanwhile ships travelling to England from Boston had to take their chances with Royalist picaroons operating from Irish ports.36

George Downing’s return to England appears to have been a spontaneous decision. In late August 1645, he told John Winthrop Junior that his ship was bound for England, but would soon return to the Caribbean on its way to New England. He proposed that the pair should meet up in either Antigua or one of the other islands he had recommended. But the wanderer never returned. A few months later, Governor Winthrop recorded in his journal that George Downing ‘continued in the ship to England and being a very able scholar and of a ready wit and fluent utterance was soon taken notice of ’ and had been appointed as a chaplain to Colonel Okey’s regiment in Lord Fairfax’s New Model Army.37
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